No. 46605-8-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

**Zaida Cardenas-Flores,**

Appellant.

---

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 14-1-00298-0

The Honorable Judge David Gregerson

**Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund  
Manek R. Mistry  
Attorneys for Appellant

**BACKLUND & MISTRY**  
P.O. Box 6490  
Olympia, WA 98507  
(360) 339-4870  
backlundmistry@gmail.com

**

## **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Ms. Cardenas-Flores’s conviction violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
2. Ms. Cardenas-Flores’s conviction was based on insufficient evidence.
3. The prosecution failed to prove that Ms. Cardenas-Flores intentionally assaulted her infant son.
4. The prosecution failed to prove an unlawful touching with criminal intent, as required to prove assault by means of common law battery.
5. The state’s trial theory—that Ms. Cardenas-Flores accidentally injured her son while removing him from his car seat—did not support a conviction for second-degree assault of a child.
6. The prosecution failed to establish the *corpus delicti* of intentional assault by *prima facie* evidence independent of Ms. Cardenas-Flores’s statements.

**ISSUE 1:** Was the evidence insufficient to prove intentional assault where it showed (at worst) that Ms. Cardenas-Flores accidentally injured her infant son while placing him in his child seat or removing him from it?

**ISSUE 2:** Was the state’s trial theory and supporting evidence insufficient for conviction of intentional assault where the evidence consisted of (1) an unexplained injury, (2) an opinion that the force that caused the injury was greater than “everyday” handling, and (3) Ms. Cardenas-Flores’ two alternative explanations outlining the accidental infliction of injury?

**ISSUE 3:** Was the independent evidence insufficient to *prima facie* establish the *corpus delicti* of intentional assault, where the state had no evidence showing the cause of C.A.’s injury and the medical experts were unable to rule out accidental trauma?

7. If the *corpus delicti* issue is not preserved, Ms. Cardenas-Flores was denied her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.

8. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the jury's consideration of Ms. Cardenas-Flores's statements under the *corpus delicti* rule.

**ISSUE 4:** If the *corpus delicti* issue is not preserved for review, was Ms. Cardenas-Flores denied her right to the effective assistance of counsel?

9. The state failed to prove that the offense took place in Washington State.

**ISSUE 5:** Was the evidence insufficient to prove jurisdiction, where the injury occurred sometime between December 20<sup>th</sup> and December 23<sup>rd</sup>, and the child spent December 22<sup>nd</sup> in Salem, Oregon?

10. The court's instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove the essential elements of second-degree assault of a child.
11. The court's instructions failed to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror.
12. The court's instructions allowed the jury to convict Ms. Cardenas-Flores based on accidental infliction of harm that did not amount to an intentional assault.
13. The court's instructions permitted conviction if Ms. Cardenas-Flores intentionally touched her son and recklessly caused substantial bodily harm, even if she did not unlawfully touch him with criminal intent.
14. The trial court erred by giving Instruction No. 9.

**ISSUE 6:** Under the unique facts of this case, did an ambiguity in the trial court's instructions fail to make the relevant legal standard manifestly clear?

**ISSUE 7:** Under the unique facts of this case, did the court's instructions allow the jury to convict even if Ms. Cardenas-Flores did not intentionally assault her son?

15. Prosecutorial misconduct deprived Ms. Cardenas-Flores of her Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.
16. The prosecutor's argument improperly shifted the burden of proof onto Ms. Cardenas-Flores.



17. The prosecutor committed flagrant, ill-intentioned, prejudicial misconduct by arguing that Ms. Cardenas-Flores bore the burden of explaining her son's injuries.

**ISSUE 8:** Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by arguing that Ms. Cardenas-Flores could be found guilty because she had not provided a "plausible explanation" for her son's injury?

18. Ms. Cardenas-Flores was denied the effective assistance of counsel by her attorney's failure to consult with a medical expert.
19. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by engaging in disastrous cross-examination that elicited highly prejudicial and damaging information.
20. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by eliciting information that a non-testifying physician had found unconfirmed signs of numerous fractures.

**ISSUE 9:** Was Ms. Cardenas-Flores denied the effective assistance of counsel by her attorney's failure to consult with a medical expert prior to trial?

**ISSUE 10:** Was Ms. Cardenas-Flores denied the effective assistance of counsel by her attorney's unreasonable cross-examination of Dr. Lang, which elicited inadmissible evidence that was highly prejudicial?

21. Defense counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing.
22. Defense counsel should have objected to the prosecutor's improper burden-shifting argument.
23. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to seek an instruction limiting the jury's consideration of evidence implying that Ms. Cardenas-Flores had the burden of explaining her child's injuries.

**ISSUE 11:** Was Ms. Cardenas-Flores prejudiced by her attorney's failure to object to prosecutorial misconduct in closing?

**ISSUE 12:** Was Ms. Cardenas-Flores prejudiced by her attorney's unreasonable failure to request a limiting instruction

regarding testimony that implied she bore the burden of explaining her child's injuries?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS**

- A. Ms. Cardenas-Flores took her newborn to see a doctor after learning that the baby's father had injured him by rolling over onto his leg while asleep.

Zaida Cardenas-Flores gave birth to her first child, C.A., on November 28, 2013. RP 55-56, 315-316. She enjoyed being a new mom, and had the support of her own mother and the father's family. RP 636, 342. During the first month of her son's life, she brought him to all of his recommended doctor's appointments. RP 93.

On December 18, Ms. Cardenas-Flores brought her baby to the emergency room. RP 58. He was in pain. RP 58. The father, Carlos Austin, had told her that he'd rolled over onto C.A.'s leg while co-sleeping. RP 58-59. Ms. Cardenas-Flores hadn't been in the bedroom when this happened, but she'd heard C.A. crying and had gone to investigate. RP 126-127, 318. At the time, the couple and their child slept together on a thin piece of foam on the carpeted floor of their apartment. RP 266-267.

X-Rays taken on December 18<sup>th</sup> showed no fracture. RP 59. However, both parents said that C.A. seemed to be in pain when he bent his leg. RP 59. The doctor reassured them that their child was fine, and cautioned that they might see some swelling in the leg. RP 128, 270. The

doctor told Ms. Cardenas-Flores that a warm bath might help with the swelling. RP 184.

B. Two days after the baby's well-child checkup, the family traveled to Salem, Oregon to visit relatives.

Ms. Cardenas-Flores did see swelling off and on over the next few days, and the baby remained fussy. RP 270-271, 273. He seemed most comfortable in his car seat, and he was fussier when he out of the seat. The couple agreed to leave him in the seat most of the time.<sup>1</sup> RP 282.

Ms. Cardenas-Flores brought her baby to the doctor for his two-week well-child check on December 20<sup>th</sup>. RP 60-61. She was still concerned that he might be in pain. RP 61-62. The doctor told the couple that the leg seemed fine. RP 61-62. Another appointment was set for two weeks later. RP 63.

That same day, the couple drove with their baby to Quincy, a small town east of Wenatchee, to pick up Mr. Austin's son and two daughters. RP 273. Ms. Cardenas-Flores cared for the girls when they were in Mr. Austin's custody. She considered them like her own children. RP 339-340.

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Austin also had the idea of wrapping the leg with a gauze bandage. He had Ms. Cardenas-Flores buy some, and over the next few days he would put the bandage on and take it off. RP 278-279.

After picking up the kids, the whole family drove back from Quincy. RP 275-276. They arrived home in the afternoon on Saturday, December 21, stopped briefly at their apartment, and then took the girls for a haircut. RP 275-276. Everywhere they went, C.A. remained in his car seat, except when Ms. Cardenas-Flores took him out to breastfeed or to change his diaper. RP 276, 277.

On Sunday morning, December 22, Ms. Cardenas-Flores noticed some swelling and gave C.A. a short bath. RP 184, 281. His leg had continued swelling off and on, as the ER doctor had said it would. RP 281. C.A. was still fussy and whiny. RP 184, 281.

The family drove to Salem, where Mr. Austin's mother lives.<sup>2</sup> RP 272, 283. The couple has attended church in Salem for as long as they have been together. They know the pastor and most of the congregation. RP 280-281.

They attended the service that Sunday, with the baby in his car seat. RP 281. He slept during the service, and "everybody saw [him]." RP 281-282. After church, they went to the grandmother's house, and spent the rest of the day there. RP 283. C.A. remained in his car seat for most of the visit, except for feeding and changing. RP 283. Ms.

---

<sup>2</sup> Salem is approximately an hour south of the family's home in Vancouver. RP 325.

Cardenas-Flores “[wasn’t] allowing people to pick him up because the leg had been hurting him.” RP 73.

C. The day after returning from Oregon, the mother brought her child to the emergency room because his condition had worsened.

The next day, C.A. was fussier, and Ms. Cardenas-Flores thought she could hear a cracking or popping sound in the leg. RP 73, 134, 187-188, 249, 327-328, 356. That evening, when she took her baby’s onesie off, his leg was more swollen. He cried uncontrollably during his diaper change. RP 73, 127, 134.

She again brought him to the emergency room. The baby was seen by Dr. Cathleen Lang, who diagnosed a displaced femur fracture. RP 63-64. According to Dr. Lang, the rollover incident could not have caused the fracture. RP 75. X-Rays showed that the femur had not started healing, which suggested the fracture was less than a week old.<sup>3</sup> RP 69-71.

Dr. Lang met separately with each parent. Both Ms. Cardenas-Flores and Mr. Austin outlined the same history: that Mr. Austin had rolled onto the infant the morning of December 18<sup>th</sup>, that the baby had started crying, that they had taken him to the ER and later to his well-child checkup, and that his symptoms had worsened on Sunday or Monday. RP 72-73.

---

<sup>3</sup> Dr. Lang testified that signs of healing typically develop within seven to ten days. RP 69.

Neither parent could pinpoint a single moment after the rollover incident that might have caused his symptoms to worsen. RP 81-82. This lack of specificity was highly concerning to medical staff; however, they did not diagnose “non-accidental trauma.” RP 81, 136, 138.

D. Three police officers subjected the mother to a 2 ½ hour interrogation, during which they repeatedly told her that her account didn’t match her child’s injuries.

Hospital staff called the police, even though they could not rule out accidental trauma. Three officers separated Ms. Cardenas-Flores from Mr. Austin and questioned her in a conference room at the hospital.<sup>4</sup> RP 168, 207-210.

The interrogation started sometime after midnight. It lasted 2 ½ hours. RP 109, 214, 288. It was not tape recorded.<sup>5</sup> RP 214, 376.

At one point, one of the three officers had to leave the room, explaining that his interviewing style “can get a little direct,” which “can cause stress for the subject.” RP 380. He thought that his demeanor may have added to the stress of the interrogation. RP 380, 383.

Ms. Cardenas-Flores cooperated with the police. RP 180, 258, 294. She did not ask permission to leave the conference room. RP 294.

---

<sup>4</sup> Mr. Austin was questioned separately. RP 381.

<sup>5</sup> After the first 2 ½ hours of interrogation, police asked for permission to record. At that point, Ms. Cardenas-Flores declined. RP 214.

During the interrogation, she recounted the events leading up to that day. RP 181-184, 187. Her account was consistent with what she'd said during the December 18<sup>th</sup> emergency room visit, the December 20<sup>th</sup> well-child checkup, and her interview with Dr. Lang earlier that night. RP 58, 59-63, 72-74, 181-184, 187.

At some point, the lead investigator, Detective Deanna Watkins, decided that she was not being honest. RP 222. The officers told Ms. Cardenas-Flores that the injury couldn't have happened when Mr. Austin rolled onto the child. RP 222.

They also told her that the X-Ray from December 18<sup>th</sup> (after the rollover incident) hadn't shown a femur fracture. RP 223. Watkins told her to "[T]ell us what really happened." RP 223.

The officers told her "multiple times" that the injuries didn't match her explanation. RP 235. In response, she outlined a new possibility. She claimed that on Monday night, after returning from the store, her baby woke up in the car seat, crying. She said that she didn't like to hear him cry, felt desperate to get him out, and as a result had pulled him from the car seat too quickly. She told the officers that her baby's leg had been



caught in one of the seat's restraints, and that she'd actually lifted the whole car seat with him.<sup>6</sup> RP 188, 201, 234.

One of the officers told her that the injury could not have happened in that way either.<sup>7</sup> RP 235. She then retracted the explanation, and suggested that she may have put too much pressure on his leg when putting him into the car seat before she went to the store. RP 201.

The officers apparently accepted this explanation, and she gave more detail, telling them that her baby's leg was bent and swollen, that she needed it straight to get him into the car seat, and that she'd pushed hard enough to straighten his leg. RP 202. When the officers asked if she knew she'd broken his leg, she said "I knew I did something." RP 202. She went on to say that her baby cried, that the cry was different than his normal cry, and that when told his leg was broken, she knew that it was from that incident. RP 202.

---

<sup>6</sup> She later explained that she'd given this explanation because she felt pressure to give a version of events that matched the injuries, and wanted to tell the officers what they wanted to hear. RP 288-290, 291.

<sup>7</sup> It is not clear why the officer thought this explanation inconsistent with the injury. Nothing suggests the medical experts would have rejected this explanation. *See* RP 51-160.

The officers then seized the car seat as evidence, and the state charged Ms. Cardenas-Flores with assault of a child in the second degree. RP 202-203; Information, Supp. CP; CP 1-3.<sup>8</sup>

E. At trial, the state's theory rested on the mother's statement that she'd accidentally injured her son while putting him in his child seat.

At trial, the state presented no evidence showing how C.A.'s femur was actually broken. *See RP generally.* The prosecutor repeatedly implied that Ms. Cardenas-Flores became frustrated, but the state did not present any testimony that she ever became frustrated with or angry towards her infant son. Except for the normal stress that can come with having a newborn, both Ms. Cardenas-Flores and the father averred that she never became stressed or frustrated. RP 56, 57-58, 63, 201, 247, 329, 340-341, 349, 352, 357.

The state's theory at trial was that the mother accidentally injured her child while putting him in his child seat. RP 79-80, 202, 398. In closing, the prosecutor asked jurors to presume an intentional assault from the nature of the injuries, even though Dr. Lang couldn't rule out accidental trauma. RP 81; RP 136, 138, 398, 400-404. He suggested that Ms. Cardenas-Flores must have been frustrated while straightening the

---

<sup>8</sup> The state filed a motion seeking permission to amend the Information, changing only the charging dates. CP 1-3. It does not appear that the court granted permission, or that Ms. Cardenas-Flores was ever arraigned on the Amended Information. *See CP, RP generally.*

child's leg so she could properly restrain him in his car seat. RP 398, 401-404.

Ms. Cardenas-Flores testified to the events leading up to the discovery of the femur fracture. Her testimony was consistent with the information she'd provided at the ER on December 18<sup>th</sup>, to her primary care physician at the December 20<sup>th</sup> appointment, to Dr. Lang on December 23<sup>rd</sup>, and to Detective Watkins during the first part of the police interview. RP 58, 59-63, 72-74, 181-184, 187, 266-345.

She disavowed the alternative explanations she'd given to the police toward the end of the 2 ½ hour unrecorded interview. RP 289-290, 291. She explained that she told Watkins what had happened, but that "it wasn't what she wanted to hear," and that Watkins "kept saying that's not how it would happen[;] [t]hat's not how the baby could get hurt, how my son could get hurt." RP 288-289.

After the police repeatedly told her "that's not what the doctors are saying," she gave the two different explanations she thought the officers wanted to hear.<sup>9</sup> RP 289, 291. At trial, she told the jury that she'd lied to the police under duress. RP 289-291. During closing arguments, the

---

<sup>9</sup> It was only then that she was then provided a statement form. However, upon reading that she would be required to sign it under penalty of perjury, she declined to make a written statement, since the explanation the police had accepted was not the truth. RP 291-292.

prosecutor ridiculed the idea that anyone would falsely confess under duress.<sup>10</sup> RP 409.

F. Defense counsel did not consult with a medical expert, and his cross-examination of Dr. Lang brought out highly prejudicial information that damaged the defense theory.

The state presented expert testimony from two doctors: Dr. Stein and Dr. Lang. RP 51-160. Defense counsel did not consult with a medical expert in preparation for trial.<sup>11</sup>

Defense counsel knew that the case would likely involve significant medical testimony. Detective Watkins' declaration of probable cause included a summary of Dr. Lang's expert opinion: that the injury probably happened on December 23<sup>rd</sup>, that it would result in immediate pain and swelling, that it would "not be caused from being rolled on but from a twisting, bending grabbing, jerking, or flinging of the leg," and that it "would require multiple forces." Affidavit/Declaration of Probable

---

<sup>10</sup> Defense counsel did not object to this argument, despite the growing body of literature showing that false confessions contribute to a significant proportion of wrongful convictions. RP 409.

<sup>11</sup> Because Ms. Cardenas-Flores was indigent, the court appointed counsel to represent her. Order Appointing Attorney, Supp. CP. Her attorney sought and obtained public funds to hire a transcriptionist and an investigator, but neither sought nor obtained funding to consult with any kind of expert. Request for Defense Services (4/30/14); Authorization for Appointment (5/1/2014); Request for Defense Services (5/27/14); Authorization for Appointment (5/27/14); Request for Services (6/4/14); Authorization for Appointment (6/5/14); Request For Additional Services (6/16/14); Authorization for Appointment (6/17/14); Supp. CP.

Cause, Supp. CP.<sup>12</sup> In addition, the state's various witness lists named a total of nine different medical doctors: Dr. Clinton, Dr. Lang, Dr. Stein, Dr. Gilmore, Dr. Shanks, Dr. Benziger, Dr. Dunn, Dr. Huynh, Dr. Rosenfeld. State's Witness Lists (filed 7/24, 8/5, and 8/15 of 2014) Supp. CP.

Dr. Stein testified that he examined C.A. at the ER on December 18<sup>th</sup>, and that he saw no fracture on that date. RP 151-160. Dr. Lang opined that the fracture occurred after the baby's December 20<sup>th</sup> well-child checkup and before the emergency room visit on December 23<sup>rd</sup>. RP 74-75. She didn't think the fracture could have happened when Mr. Austin rolled onto his son because "with rollovers... the bed will typically absorb most of the energy." RP 75. When asked about the force necessary to break an infant's femur, she opined that the fracture involved "more force than what's going to be going on in normal everyday life." RP 80. She also believed the fracture resulted from twisting and bending.<sup>13</sup> RP 75-76.

On cross-examination, defense counsel did not ask about Dr. Lang's inability to rule out accidental trauma. RP 92-133. Instead, that

---

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