#### NO. 46605-8-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

#### ZAIDA YESENIA CARDENAS FLORES, Appellant

### FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.14-1-00298-0

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

####

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

#### a. Waiver

Nonetheless, "Washington's *corpus delicti* rule . . . is judicially created and not constitutionally mandated." *Dow*, 168 Wn.2d at 249-50; *Corbett*, 106 Wn.2d at 576 (noting that the "*corpus delicti* rule does not have a constitutional source"). Accordingly, "because the corpus delicti

17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In addition, RCW 10.58.035(1) directs trial courts to find admissible a defendant's confession in a criminal proceeding "where independent proof of the *corpus delicti* is absent, and the alleged victim of the crime is dead or incompetent to testify . . . if there is substantial independent evidence that would tend to establish the trustworthiness of the confession, admission, or other statement of the defendant."

rule is purely a rule of evidence, it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *State v. Grogan*, 147 Wn.App. 511, 519, 195 P.3d 1017 (2008) (citing *State v. Dodgen*, 81 Wn.App. 487, 492, 915 P.2d 531 (1996)) (holding "[t]he corpus delicti rule is a judicially created rule of evidence . . . and a defendant must make proper objection to the trial court to preserve the issue"); *State v. C.D.W.*, 76 Wn.App. 761, 763-64, 887 P.2d 911 (1995). The failure to object to the admission of a confession or to assert an insufficient evidence claim by way of the *corpus delicti* rule at the trial court "precludes appellate review because '[i]t may well be that proof of the *corpus delicti* was available and at hand during the trial, but that in the absence of [a] specific objection calling for such proof it was omitted." *Dodgen*, 81 Wn.App. at 492 (quoting *C.D.W.*, 76 Wn.App. at 763-64).

Here, Ms. Cardenas-Flores failed to raise any *corpus delicti* issues at the trial court level, i.e., she did not object to the admission of her confession or statements on the basis of the *corpus* rule, nor did she move for dismissal of the case on that basis. *See generally* RP. She now argues in a footnote that "[b]ecause evidentiary sufficiency may be raised for the first time on review, an appellant may argue violation of the sufficiency aspect of the *corpus delicti* rule even absent an objection below." Br. of

App. at 23 FN 24.<sup>3</sup> But *Dodgen* has straightforwardly dispatched with that argument stating "[t]he *corpus delicti* rule is a judicially created rule of evidence, *not a constitutional sufficiency of the evidence requirement*, and a defendant must make proper objection to the trial court to preserve the issue." (*Dodgen*, 81 Wn.App. at 492) (emphasis added and citation omitted). She also fails to address RAP 2.5(a) or make an argument that the rule allows her to raise her *corpus* argument for the first time on appeal. *See* Br. of App.; *infra* at 3.a (discussing RAP 2.5 and waiver).

Had Ms. Cardenas-Flores argued that her confession was inadmissible based on the *corpus delicti* rule at the trial level, the State could have availed itself of RCW 10.58.035(1), if necessary, since the victim was incompetent to testify and the trial court would have made the relevant findings regarding admissibility. As a result, raising this issue for the first time on appeal puts the State at a disadvantage. For this reason and the reasons and law above, this Court should decline to review Ms. Cardenas-Flores's assignments of error based on the *corpus delicti* rule and its attendant arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The case Ms. Cardenas-Flores cites for this proposition, *State v. Fleming*, 155 Wn.App. 489, 506, 228 P.3d 804 (2010), provides no support because the case does not address whether a *corpus delicti* sufficiency argument can be raised for the first time on appeal.

b. If this court addresses the merits of Ms.

Cardenas-Flores corpus delicti argument it should find that the State presented sufficient independent evidence to satisfy the rule

The *corpus delicti* generally consists of "two elements: (1) an injury or loss . . . and (2) someone's criminal act as the cause thereof."

Corbett, 106 Wn.2d at 573-74. "Proof of the identity of the person who committed the crime is not part of the *corpus delicti*. . . ." *Id.* at 574; *State v. Hummel*, 165 Wn.App. 749, 759, 266 P.3d 269 (2012) (citation omitted). Neither is the State required to establish, as part of a *corpus delicti* challenge, "the appropriate mental state (intent, recklessness, negligence). . . ." *State v. Angulo*, 148 Wn.App. 642, 656, 200 P.3d 752 (2009); *State v. C.M.C.*, 110 Wn.App. 285, 289, 40 P.3d 690 (2002) (holding that "[w]hile the *mens rea* is an essential element of the offense, it is separate and distinct from the initial question of whether the body of the crime has been established") (citing *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 655-56, 927 P.2d 210 (1996)).

Essentially, the "corpus delicti corroboration rule" is focused "on whether a criminal act has been established" and is not served by trying to apply it to the "elements of the crime." Angulo, 148 Wn.App at 658-59; State v. Burnette, 78 Wn.App. 952, 956, 904 P.2d 776 (1995) (holding that "Washington's corpus delicti rule does not require the State to establish

acts constituting every essential element"). Moreover, as discussed in *Hummel*, nothing in *Aten*, *Dow*, or *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 150 P.3d 59 (2006) requires the State to present "evidence of the mental state applicable to a specific degree of the alleged crime" in order to establish the *corpus delicti. Hummel*, 165 Wn.App. at 763-66; *See also Angulo*, 148 Wn.App. at 656-57 (discussing *Brockob*). Thus, the rule that the "mental element of the felony charged need not be proved by independent evidence prior to trial use of a defendant's confession when that element of the crime charged provides merely the degree of the generic crime charged" remains good law. *State v. Mason*, 31 Wn.App 41, 48, 639 P.2d 800 (1982); *Hummel*, 165 Wn.App. at 763-66; *Angulo*, 148 Wn.App. at 656-57, 59.

The independent evidence used to establish the *corpus delicti* "may be either direct or circumstantial and need not be of such character as would establish the *corpus delicti* beyond a reasonable doubt or even by a preponderance of the evidence." *Hummel*, 165 Wn.App. at 759 (citation omitted). The State can establish the *corpus delicti* so long as the evidence is "of sufficient circumstances which would support a logical and reasonable inference of the facts sought to be proved." *Id.*; *State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 796, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995) (holding that the "independent evidence need not have been sufficient to . . . even to send

the case to the jury"). In analyzing whether there is sufficient evidence to support the *corpus delicti* of the crime, reviewing courts "assume[] the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences from it in a light most favorable to the State." *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d at 658.

Furthermore, when a defendant fails to move to dismiss based on a failure of proof the corpus delicti and testifies or introduces substantive evidence on her own behalf, she has "waived [her] challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence as it stood" at the close of the State's case. Pennewell, 23 Wn.App. at 778 (citing State v. Smith, 74 Wn.2d 744, 768, 446 P.2d 571 (1968)). Instead, an "appellate court then may review the evidence as a whole to determine whether there is sufficient independent evidence supporting a logical and reasonable inference that the crime charged occurred," to include the defendant's testimony. State v. Liles-Heide, 94 Wn.App. 569, 572, 970 P.2d 349 (1999) (citation omitted); Mathis, 73 Wn. App. at 347. Simply put, "once the defendant elects to present evidence and that evidence establishes the corpus delicti, [s]he . . . cannot prevail on appeal." State v. McPhee, 156 Wn.App. 44, 60-61, 230 P.3d 284 (2010) (quoting State v. Pietrzak, 110 Wn.App. 670, 679, 41 P.3d 1240 (2002)).

Thus, for example, in *Mathis* the defendant testimony's confirming he made the inculpatory statements attributed to him was sufficient, when

combined with the other evidence, to establish the *corpus delicti* of the crime. *Mathis*, 73 Wn.App. at 344, 346-47. Similarly, "pre-crime statements can corroborate post-crime statements for purposes of establishing corpus delicti." *Pietrzak*, 110 Wn.App. at 681.

Moreover, in child abuse cases where a defendant "has sole custody of a victim and there is evidence of other inculpatory circumstances tending to show guilt, the evidence may be sufficient to convict." *Pennewell*, 23 Wn.App. at 782-83 (citing cases). Notably, in such cases a "false or improbable explanation is sufficient evidence of other inculpatory circumstances to sustain a verdict of guilty." *Id.* (citing *State v. Green*, 2 Wn.App. 57, 466 P.2d 193 (1970)). As a result, *Pennewell* held that where a "defendant had total control of the victim at all critical times and gave two explanations of accidental injury, neither of which were inculpatory per se, but neither of which were possible in view of the medical findings . . . that the circumstantial evidence was sufficient to enable the jury to find that the child was the victim of a criminal act by the defendant." *Id.* at 782.

Here, Ms. Cardenas-Flores was the parent who had total control of the victim at all critical times, from December 20 through December 23, and she was the one who changed him, fed him, and would get up with him in the night. RP 329-30. She had total control, in part, because following December 18, Mr. Austin never did anything with the baby by himself as he was worried about hurting him again. RP 358, 381. This control of the victim, combined with the nature of the injury, i.e., the force needed to create the injury and the mechanism required to cause it, provides sufficient independent evidence to support a logical and reasonable inference that the crime charged occurred, and is more than enough to corroborate Ms. Cardenas-Flores's confession. Moreover, this evidence when combined with Ms. Cardenas-Flores's admission to making the confession described by Detective Watkins and her later explanation of how the injury occurred, which was not possible in view of the medical findings, overwhelmingly "enable[d] the jury to find that the child was the victim of a criminal act by the defendant." *Pennewell*, 23 Wn.App. at 782.

The bottom line is that the state produced "independent evidence that provide[d] *prima facie* corroboration of the crime" and to the extent it was lacking, here "the defendant elect[ed] to present evidence and that evidence establishe[d] the *corpus delicti*, [thus] [s]he . . . cannot prevail on appeal." *McPhee*, 156 Wn.App. at 60-61.

#### III. <u>INSTRUCTIONS</u>

#### a. Waiver

Because Ms. Cardenas-Flores did not object to the jury instructions given at trial, she waived the right to challenge them on appeal. The general rule is that an issue, theory, or argument not presented at trial will not be considered on appeal. RAP 2.5(a); State v. Hayes, 165 Wn.App. 507, 514, 265 P.3d 982 (2011) (citing State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332–33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995)). This "rule reflects a policy of encouraging the efficient use of judicial resources. The appellate courts will not sanction a party's failure to point out at trial an error which the trial court, if given the opportunity, might have been able to correct to avoid an appeal and a consequent new trial." State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1998) (citation omitted). The theory of issue preservation by timely objection also "facilitates appellate review by ensuring that a complete record of the issues will be available, and prevents adversarial unfairness by ensuring that the prevailing party is not deprived of victory by claimed errors that he had no opportunity to address." State v. Lazcano, --- Wn.App. ----, --- P.3d ----, 2015 WL 3754752, 7 (citing State v. Strine, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749-50, 293 P.3d 1177 (2013)).

The rule has additional force when applied to criminal cases in which claimed errors in jury instructions are raised for the first time on appeal because "CrR 6.15(c) requires that timely and well stated objections be made to instructions given or refused 'in order that the trial court may have the opportunity to correct any error." Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 685-86 (emphasis added) (quoting Seattle v. Rainwater, 86 Wn.2d 567, 571, 546 P.2d 450 (1976)). Accordingly, our Supreme Court has "with almost monotonous continuity, recognized this procedural requirement and adhered to the proposition that, absent obvious and manifest injustice. we will not review assignments of error based upon the giving or refusal of instructions to which no timely exceptions were taken." State v. Louie, 68 Wn.2d 304, 312, 413 P.2d 7 (1966) (citing cases). Thus, it is unsurprising that "[c]iting this rule or the principles it embodies" our Supreme Court "on many occasions has refused to review asserted instructional errors to which no meaningful exceptions were taken at trial." Scott, 110 Wn.2d at 686 (citing cases).

An exception to this rule exists, however, for manifest errors affecting a defendant's constitutional rights. RAP 2.5(a)(3); *Hayes*, 165 Wn.App. at 514. "In order to benefit from this exception, 'the [defendant] must identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the [defendant]'s rights at trial," i.e., show that the error

is manifest. *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wn.App. 172, 180, 267 P.3d 454 (2011) (alterations in original) (quoting *State v. Gordon*, 172 Wn.2d 671, 676, 260 P.3d 884 (2011)) (quoting *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)). Consequently, a defendant cannot meet her burden if she "simply assert[s] that an error occurred at trial and label[s] the error 'constitutional. . . ." *Grimes*, 165 Wn.App. at 186.

Furthermore, our appellate courts "have repeatedly told parties to make their argument in the body of their brief, not their footnotes."

Tamosaitis v. Bechtel Nat., Inc. 182 Wn.App. 241, 248 FN 2, 327 P.3d 1309 (2014) (citing cases). This exhortation is not merely perfunctory, however, as arguments in footnotes are inadequate and need not be considered by reviewing courts. State v. Harris, 164 Wn.App. 377, 389 FN 7, 263 P.3d 12 (2011); State v. N.E., 70 Wn.App. 602, 606 FN 3, 854 P.2d 672 (1993) (declining to consider appellant's argument made in a footnote); State v. Johnson, 69 Wn.App. 189 194 FN 4, 847 P.2d 960 (1993) (same).

Here, because Ms. Cardenas-Flores did not object to the jury instructions given at trial, she has waived the right to challenge them on appeal. Moreover, Ms. Cardenas-Flores fails to "identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected her rights at trial" under the rubric of RAP 2.5(a)(3). *Grimes*, 165 Wn.App. at 180. Instead,

she only addresses the issue of whether she can raise the purported instructional error by the use of two footnotes, and in doing so "simply assert[s] that an error occurred . . . and label[s] the error constitutional" because it allegedly affected her right to due process. *Id.* at 186; Br. of App. at 29 FN 37 *and* at 33 FN 42. This is insufficient.

Moreover, the instruction about which Ms. Cardenas-Flores complains, the instruction defining assault, has repeatedly been found to not rise to the level of being a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. *Daniels*, 87 Wn.App. at 151-56, 940 P.2d 690 (1997) (concluding that the definition of battery was not an element of assault by battery, and declining to review the alleged error because it was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right); *State v. Pawling*, 23 Wn.App. 226, 232-33, 597 P.2d 1367 (1979) (explaining that "[t]he constitutional requirement is only that the jury be instructed as to each element of the offense charged. The failure of the court to define further one of those elements is not within the ambit of the constitutional rule."). Thus, this court should decline to consider Ms. Cardenas-Flores's claim that the purported instructional error can be raised for the first time on appeal and likewise decline to review the instructional error claim on the merits.

# b. In the event that this court addresses the instructional claim on the merits the Trial court's instructions to the jury were proper

"Jury instructions are proper when they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law." *State v. Hayward*, 152 Wn.App. 632, 641, 217 P.3d 354 (2009) (quoting *State v. Barnes*, 153 Wn.2d. 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005)). Juries are presumed to follow the instructions of the court. *State v. Grisby*, 97 Wn.2d 493, 499, 647 P.2d 6 (1982) (citing *State v. Kroll*, 87 Wn.2d 829, 558 P.2d 173 (1976)).

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